#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC07-1964 LT CASE NO.: 96-1277

DONALD BRADLEY Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RICHARD R. KURITZ, ESQUIRE

Florida Bar No: 0972540 200 East Forsyth Street Jacksonville, FL 32202

Telephone: (904) 355-1999 Facsimile: (904) 854-1999 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

## **

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is an appeal from an Order Denying Defendant's Motion for Postconviction Relief entered 14 June 2007 [1203]. Appellant timely noticed this appeal [1231]. The order of the collateral court contains an efficient procedural history and factual background of the guilt and penalty phases of Appellant's trial and his direct appeal, as well as the material stages of the collateral proceedings from which Appellant takes this instant appeal [1168-71]. This Court's decision in Bradley v. State, 787 So. 2d 732 (Fla. 2001), provides a more detailed description of the trial proceedings. Appellant now summarizes the testimony of trial counsel Chipperfield from the evidentiary hearing held 15 September 2005, recounting his handling of Appellant's trial.

#### **DIRECT EXAMINATION**

After his introduction on the record and recount of how he came to be involved in Bradley's case [793], trial counsel testified to his awareness at the time of the indictment that there was a potential issue regarding burglary, as well as his familiarity with the tenets of the collateral attack and this Court's opinions regarding the direct appeal [798-9]. Chipperfield admitted that issues regarding the burglary charge were not preserved at trial, despite factual support based on the evidence<sup>1</sup> [800-2]. He claimed that any such challenge would have been inconsistent with the Defendant's theory of the case and Chipperfield's own understanding of the law [803-4].

Trial counsel had asked for a special verdict form, based on his hope to eliminate the felony murder charge in the penalty phase<sup>2</sup> [805-6]. Having noted that Appellant's motion for postconviction relief was concerning to him [807-8], Chipperfield testified that if he would have had evidence showing Linda Jones as more culpable, he would have advised Appellant not to proceed with alternate defenses<sup>3</sup> [809-10]. This admission clearly brings the lack of preservation of the burglary issue back to the forefront and much more significant. With reference to

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Chipperfield acknowledged the relevance of challenging the burglary charge based on the consent of Linda Jones.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Chipperfield requested this special verdict form despite not having preserved through objection a challenge against the burglary charge.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The record is replete to show that Bradley's primary defense was having an alibi, and that alternatively it was the independent act of Linda Jones – wife of the victim at the time – who dealt the definitive blow ending the victim's life.

reports of the Florida Department of Law Enforcement ["FDLE"] dated 12 October 1997, trial counsel discovered on direct examination that duct-tape found in the bathroom at the crime scene matched tape found in the garage, according to fracture markings resembling sawed edges, and that all such tape was attributable to the only female allegedly at the scene [811-7]. Chipperfield acknowledged that knowing of the absolute match regarding this tape at the time of trial would have supported his argument at trial that Linda's behavior immediately after the crime evinced her greater culpability<sup>4</sup> [818-21].

None of the unused tape ultimately discovered at the scene matched that which was used to bind the victim and his murderous spouse [823]. A fire poker was removed from the scene, and in the garage to the home was the teal Buick of the Joneses which had blood in the trunk and from which was missing the tire iron; neither the poker nor trunk of the car were tested for blood matching the victim [824-6]. Trial counsel absolved himself of having selected the theory of defense with which to proceed at trial, noting that Defendant had chosen how to proceed [826]. Despite his argument regarding the independent act of Linda Jones as having killed her husband, Chipperfield failed to utilize strong evidence in support of that notion [828].

<sup>-</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Despite her involvement in the crime, Linda Jones was sentenced only to life in prison [1104, 1133], compared to Bradley's sentence of death. The other Co-Defendants received nominal sentences.

Trial counsel acknowledged both the fact of sharing a blood spatter expert with counsel for Linda Jones [829], as well as the prospect for prejudice resulting from such sharing [831]. Yet, trial counsel dismissed the notion of prejudice merely by asserting his conclusion at the time that an independent opinion for his client was not all that important [832].

The hearing continued with trial counsel's treatment of the mental health history of Bradley. Trial counsel testified that it was his practice to obtain evidence of mental health mitigation throughout proceedings [836]. In this particular case, he hired a psychologist – Dr. Krop – then chose not to have the doctor testify at the penalty phase [837]. Chipperfield testified to the importance of knowing a defendant's family's medical and mental health history [838], and to having known that Bradley's sister Pam was suicidal, his grandfather had died in a mental institution, and his uncle exhibited extremely violent behavior [840].

Trial counsel was aware that Bradley had a long-standing drug problem [842]; that he suffered from depression and a moderately severe mental disorder [843]; that without medications, he showed increased risks for anxiety, anger, violence, and possibly bi-polar disorder [844]; that he exhibited rage and mood swings and had used cocaine and cannabis for ten years [845]; that he in fact had been medically diagnosed with bi-polar disorder and was a risk for violent

behavior without his medication [846]. Despite this knowledge, trial counsel<sup>5</sup> chose not to present it to the jury [849-50].

Trial counsel failed to provide the penalty-phase jury with mitigation regarding Appellant's lack of a criminal record, yet did request such a mitigator for the trial judge to consider at the *Spencer*<sup>6</sup> hearing [851]. Chipperfield admitted that he should have offered all of the evidence regarding the mental infirmity of Bradley and members of his family to the judge at the *Spencer* hearing, even if not to the penalty-phase jury [852]. Chipperfield read from the trial judge's sentencing order regarding the lack of a mitigator for extreme emotional disturbance, despite its prominence for Linda Jones [854].

Segueing into addressing trial counsel's statements in his closing argument that might have alienated the jury, Chipperfield testified to his estimation of Clay County as conservative and liking the death penalty [855-6]. Collateral counsel addressed Chipperfield's closing statements concerning a quote from Martin Luther King, Jr.; heavy metal, t-shirt art and tattoos; homeless drifters and the

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Despite his use of the pronoun "we" throughout this exchange, Chipperfield's reference to "our thinking process . . . in a lot of cases" during the same paragraph suggests that it was he and other members of the office of the public defender generally who decided it would be best not to present such evidence. While Bradley may have chosen the theory of defense upon which to proceed at the guilt phase, it appears that he was not part of this decision respecting evidence of mental infirmity in the penalty phase.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Spencer v. State, 615 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1993) (establishing sentencing procedure for capital cases).

Defendant, and the quality of life of an inmate; the prospect of working versus receiving workers' compensation; and the abnormality of the Jehovah's Witness denomination [856-60]. Chipperfield acknowledged the possibility of such statements alienating the jury [861]. Collateral counsel noted the cumulative effect of trial counsel's errors before tendering the witness [862].

#### CROSS-EXAMINATION

Trial counsel was asked about and expanded upon his experience as a criminal defense attorney [863-4]. Often being the object of motions for postconviction relief, Chipperfield has never been found ineffective. As a member of the death penalty steering committee, he had helped arrange continuing education seminars [866].

Regarding the instant trial, despite having evaluated evidence of Defendant's presence at the scene as "real strong," trial counsel propounded the alibi defense as primary [867]. Agreeing with the State that he had effectively handled the brothers McWhite as key witnesses of the prosecution, as well as covered Cindy Bradley's possession of the flip phone, trial counsel again pinned the choice of the alibi defense on the Defendant. Recalling significant dates in the chronology of events, as well as his assistance by Curt Davidson as his second chair in this case and help from other good attorneys, and his regular communication with Appellant, trial

counsel testified to having watched the trial of Linda Jones to get a feel for the witnesses that would probably testify in Bradley's trial as well [869-71].

Trial counsel noted that Appellant had been very involved in his own defense [872], and developed different theories, ultimately deciding which would be best [873]. Trial counsel even had filed a motion for Appellant to serve as cocounsel, but later withdrew the motion [Id.].

Trial counsel had a relationship with Assistant State Attorney Collins that fostered trust regarding discovery duties [873]. Chipperfield knows the decision in State v. Delgado<sup>7</sup> and its relationship to this case, and he knew that a charge of burglary was dismissed against Linda Jones [875]. Trial counsel opined at the time that no legal basis existed to challenge the burglary charge against Bradley<sup>8</sup> [876].

After briefly discussing *voir dire* and selection of the trial jury [876-7], trial counsel elaborated upon his assessment of the lack of physical evidence linking Defendant to the scene, as well as his presentation of the different defense theories to the jury [877-8]. He testified to his presentation at trial of evidence regarding *luminol* testing, an unknown print on some of the tape recovered, the crowbar shape on the floor, and differences in the physical positioning of the victim at different times. Chipperfield opined that he did the best he could [879].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> 776 So. 2d 233 (Fla. 2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Trial counsel represented throughout the hearing that the burglary charge could not be challenged consistently with Bradley's alibi defense.

He testified further that he had presented evidence of blood in the car in the garage, and tape in the cinderblock in the garage [880]. *Luminol* revealed blood in the car, but it was not collected for testing [Id.]. Trial counsel was aware of testimony at trial that blood was found in the car, and there was no way to know whether a tire iron had been removed [881]; that all defendants had used the garage for ingress and egress and that Bradley had allegedly cut Linda loose [882]. There had been testimony in the trial of Linda Jones that the pieces of tape from the bathroom and garage door, which were matched, had actually been cut by "pinking shears" [883]. Trial counsel performed or received research on duct tape, all of which evidence and research related only to the back-up defense [883-4].

Chipperfield admitted that timing was an issue concerning Linda's 911 call [884], and that neither law enforcement nor the medical examiner had found the murder weapon or any definitive evidence of precisely what might have been used as such [885]. A neighbor had seen a van leaving the scene and there had been blood on the washcloth but not on the mop [886]. No blood was found on a black bar or on a metal pipe, and Chipperfield agreed that greater involvement by Linda Jones would not necessarily disprove Bradley's guilt of a lesser included offense [887]. Trial counsel had requested an independent act instruction because the evidence supported the theory [888].

Trial counsel had not believed grand jury testimony of Detective Waugh regarding Linda's involvement would have been admissible, and Chipperfield did not think Linda had ever confessed [888]. He also filed pre-trial motions to preclude and objected again at trial to testimony of Janice Cole regarding alleged confessions by Linda [Id.]. After acknowledging the uselessness at trial of a "man boat" allegedly at the scene, Chipperfield thought he remembered cross-examining Michael Clark at trial [889]. Trial counsel could have done no more regarding the flip phone, aside from having the Defendant himself testify [Id.].

James Freeman had been the FDLE agent to examine a total of five Caucasian head hairs retrieved from the hands of the victim, none of which were consistent with those of Linda Jones or Appellant, and none of which were submitted for DNA testing [890-2]. Although trial counsel could not remember if DNA testing would even have been available at the time, he supposed that DNA testing could have "come back to Donald" [893].

Trial counsel had visited the scene of the crime after his appointment to represent Bradley [893]. He consulted with blood spatter expert Herbert McDonald, whose services trial counsel shared with counsel for Linda Jones [894-5]. McDonald instructed Chipperfield that none of the blood evidence at the scene would assist the Defendant, which advice trial counsel believed [Id.]. Having also consulted with Stewart James, a *luminol* expert from south Florida, trial counsel

ultimately decided not to have him testify [896]. Chipperfield did, however, present his own FDLE witnesses, which he thought at the time both bolstered the credibility of the defense, and had been utilized to the best extent possible [896-7].

Considering the trial testimony of medical examiner Dr. Arruza, trial counsel "actually got her to say that the injuries could be consistent with a crowbar or tire tool," and to contradict the testimony of the brothers McWhite, at least to some degree [898]. Trial counsel opined there had been nothing to be gained from calling as a witness a separate medical examiner, as the opinion of the only other expert consulted by Chipperfield may have been more helpful to the prosecution [900]. The primary defense was that due to a lack of physical evidence linking Bradley to the scene, he was not there and did not kill the victim [901].

Cross-examination of Chipperfield continued with consideration of his performance *vis a vis* the penalty phase. The prosecution entered its exhibits three and four: a chronology of Appellant's life from his birth to his arrest, and a memorandum to one Lynn Mullaney in Clay County regarding early penalty phase research [903-4]. Records reviewed by trial counsel included mental health, criminal, divorce, child support, school, and medical [904-5].

Trial counsel had prior experience in death penalty cases with psychologist Dr. Krop and family therapist Roger Szuch, and for that reason he consulted with them regarding Appellant's case [905-6]. Chipperfield supplied his experts with

some<sup>9</sup> of the records and notes from interviews with third parties about Appellant [907]. Pursuant to his own manner of conduct, Dr. Krop had directly met with and examined Appellant three times between his arrest and trial – including once immediately before the trial [910-1].

Trial counsel also had conducted his own limited research regarding anxiety and depressive disorders [912]. After remembering using "Auto Track" to embellish Appellant's background, Chipperfield testified that the experts provided no analysis that would benefit Appellant [913]. Specifically regarding Roger Szuch, trial counsel did not use him at all at the penalty phase because of the lack of a nexus between Bradley's "mental and physical and sex abuse [as] a child," and his commission of the crime [915]. Supposedly, he was over his childhood [916].

Trial counsel elected not to present evidence through the testimony of women with whom Defendant had previously been romantically involved because of allegations of prior abuse toward them [917]. Similarly, trial counsel presented no evidence through either of his consulted experts Krop and Szuch because of his assessment of the risk of what might happen on cross-examination [918]. Because of its remoteness from the time of the crime and his lack of personal diagnosis, Dr. Krop had not ultimately found that Bradley's possible bi-polar disorder was related to the crime [920].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Trial counsel subjectively and unilaterally selected excerpts from the collection of records to show to his experts, *infra*.

Through Bradley's family, trial counsel presented evidence at the penalty phase of "extensive abuse from his childhood and extensive issues of dysfunction throughout the family . . . including being abandoned by his father and physical and emotional abuse . . . and anxiety attacks and drug problems" [921]. When asked his strategic decisions regarding drug abuse evidence, trial counsel offered the following:

Well, I – again, I wanted the jury to think that this was an aberration in behavior for Donald Bradley and that he was otherwise a productive, hard working member of society and drugs go against that. You can – you can put both in, but I didn't think it would serve us best to put psychological testimony on because it kind of conflicts with what I was trying to show to the jury, that this was an aberration in his behavior and he's normally not like that. [922-3].

In light of the trial testimony of the McWhites, trial counsel considered the notion of a panic attack to account for Defendant's behavior [924]. Trial counsel also explained his decision not to use expert witnesses Krop and Szuch in terms of their potential to have contradicted the brighter testimony from Defendant's family [925]. Having tried to show the extensive involvement of Linda Jones and arguing that Bradley also should get a life sentence, trial counsel did not request a jury instruction on the mental mitigator because "It's too hard to prove extreme or substantial," despite having presented six other mitigators [926]. Trial counsel also received from the trial court, *sua sponte*, a mitigator for Bradley's lack of a

criminal history, based on his presentation to the trial judge that Linda Jones was not very different from Bradley in that respect [927].

### **RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION**

Revisiting trial counsel's failure to request a mental health mitigator for Appellant, Chipperfield distinguished Bradley's condition from that of Linda Jones [933], but acknowledged being unaware of **any** formal diagnosis of mental illness allegedly suffered by Ms. Jones [934]. Meanwhile, Bradley had a documented history of mental illnesses, medications therefor, and other problems [934-5]. Aside from six pages excerpted from care unit records, which trial counsel hand-selected from a larger packet, he sent to his experts summaries of divorce, child support, criminal, and school records, sworn statements of some trial witnesses, and interviews with some of Defendant's family [936-8].

After Appellant had filed his petition for postconviction relief, trial counsel had reviewed his file and highlighted parts of the care unit records that showed that Appellant had been diagnosed in the past with bi-polar disorder and had been prescribed the medication *Haldol*, with *Lithium* referenced as an alternate medication in case of side effects [938-9]. Trial counsel admitted not sending the full care unit records, particularly the sections containing Defendant's elevated potential for violent behavior without medication, again for fear of the ramifications on cross-examination [940-3]. Still, Chipperfield acknowledged

again<sup>10</sup> the foregone utility of presenting his experts at the *Spencer* hearing to the trial judge [944].

Recalling the State's elicitation of his noteworthy experience and reputation as a defense attorney, trial counsel acknowledged his fallibility and the prospect of embarrassment that would befall him upon a possible sentence mitigation due to his ineffective assistance for Appellant, but stated further that he would be bothered more for a former client to die due to his misinformed performance [947-8].

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