IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DONALD BRADLEY,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC07-1964

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR CLAY COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

MEREDITH CHARBULA Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0708399

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS PL-01, THE CAPITOL Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300, Ext. 3583 (850) 487-0997 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Trial counsel, Alan Chipperfield testified that he was aware that one of the issues that Bradley raised in his motion for post-conviction relief was that he had failed to preserve, for appeal, a challenge to the legal sufficiency of Bradley's conviction for burglary. (PCR Vol. IV 799). Chipperfield testified it was his duty to preserve that issue for appeal. (PCR Vol. IV 800). If there were facts to support a challenge to the burglary charge, he would make the legal argument. If he did not do that, then he missed something. (PCR Vol. IV 801).

He did not file any pre-trial motions regarding the burglary issue. (PCR Vol. IV 801). He does not recall making any issue of Ms. Jones' consent during his argument on his

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Bradley discusses Delgado's non-retroactivity in his initial brief. Bradley appears to be under the mistaken impression that his conviction and sentence were final at the time <u>Delgado</u> was decided. (IB 43).

motion for a judgment of acquittal (JOA). He does not remember whether he argued that the evidence was insufficient to prove a burglary as an underlying theory of felony murder. He would have to go back and look at his argument in support of a JOA. (PCR Vol. IV 801).

Mr. Chipperfield testified that he looked at the law on burglary. He certainly could have argued that Linda Jones gave consent. (PCR Vol. IV 802). He would not have argued that to the jury because it was a defense inconsistent with the one presented at trial. (PCR Vol. IV 803). Mr. Chipperfield believed that if Jack Jones did not consent to the entry it was not a good legal issue. (PCR Vol. IV 804).

At the time of the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Chipperfield was familiar with the Florida Supreme Court's decision in <u>Delgado</u>. Although <u>Delgado</u> was not the law at the time, he or a paralegal did research on the burglary issue at the time of trial. If he had filed a pre-trial motion to dismiss, Bradley would have to swear under oath that he went into the Jones's house with Linda Jones' consent. (PCR Vol. V 876).

Mr. Chipperfield knew that one of the McWhite brothers had testified that Jack Jones told the intruders to get out of his house. (PCR Vol. IV 876). He was also aware that the burglary charge against Linda Jones had been dismissed. (PCR Vol. IV 948). Mr. Chipperfield believed that, as the homeowner, Linda

Jones was in a completely different posture than was Donald Bradley. (PCR Vol V 954). Mr. Chipperfield did not think, at the time of trial, he had any basis to attack the legal sufficiency of the burglary charge. (PCR Vol. V 876).

The collateral court denied the claim. The court ruled that:<sup>16</sup>

In claim one, the Defendant asserts that counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel when he failed to properly preserve the issue that under the State's theory of the case, the burglary charge was legally invalid and that the evidence was insufficient to sustain a verdict of quilt to felony murder. Specifically, the Defendant avers that counsel was ineffective for failing to argue at trial that because Mrs. Jones invited the defendants into the Jones' home, both the burglary and felony murder charge were legally insufficient. The Defendant states that appellate counsel raised this issue on direct appeal, however the Florida Supreme Court ruled that the claim was barred as it was not preserved in the trial court. Bradley, 787 So.2d at 739

The Defendant relies upon Delgado v. State, 776 So.2d 233 (Fla. 2000) in support of his argument. First, this Court notes that Delgado was decided some two years after the defendant's trial. The Florida Supreme Court has 'consistently held that trial counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to anticipate changes in the law. Suggs v. State, 923 So.2d 419, 437 (Fla. 2005), citing Cherry v. State, 781 So.2d 1040, 1053 (Fla. 2000). Moreover, in deciding Delgado, the Florida Supreme Court receded from law that was settled since 1983 and 1988. Delgado, 776 So.2d at 242 (Wells, C.J., & Lewis & Quince, JJ. Dissenting). Accordingly, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to anticipate this change.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Some internal citations omitted.

Further, trial counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing that he did consider filing a motion claiming the Defendant had been invited in. Trial counsel testified that he had a paralegal do research on the issue and that he discussed the issue with the counsel testified Defendant. Trial that after researching the issue, he felt that there was no basis Trial counsel testified that to attack the charge. "the way I understood the law, if there was not consent by Mr. Jones", it was not a good legal issue. Trial counsel testified he was aware that the law regarding the "remaining in" part of the statute had changed after the Defendant's trial, however, counsel testified that the key issue in the Defendant's case was the ownership of the home. Trial counsel also testified that if he filed a motion to attack the charge, the Defendant would have to swear in a pretrial motion that he went into the victim's home with Linda Jones' consent, which was inconsistent with the defense the Defendant chose to present.

This Court finds that trial counsel's decision to not file a motion to attack the charge of burglary, and the felony murder based on the underlying charge of burglary, was a tactical decision made by counsel with the best interests of the Defendant in mind. Trial counsel's testimony was clear that in deciding on that particular trial strategy he considered the law as it was at the time of the Defendant's trial as well as the fact that the Defendant would have had to make sworn allegations that were inconsistent with the defense the Defendant chose to present. Since tactical decisions do not constitute ineffective assistance, finds this Court that counsel's performance was not deficient. Songer v. State, 419 So.2d 1044 (Fla. 1982); Gonzalez v. State, 579 So.2d 145, 146 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) ("Tactical decisions of counsel do not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel.") Accordingly, this claim must be denied.

(PCR Vol. VI 1172-1174).

The record supports a finding that trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to raise this issue at trial. This is so for two reasons. First, Bradley can show no deficient performance. Trial counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to object (preserve an issue for appeal) when the prevailing law at the time of trial provides no legal basis for an objection.<sup>17</sup> At the

In this case, there is no question Bradley's entry was intended to shock, terrorize and surprise Mr. Jones. Bradley and his criminal cohorts did not knock on the front door. Instead, they surreptitiously entered the home through doors left unlocked by a murderous coconspirator. At the time of entry, they were wearing ski masks and gloves and the trio made their entry so as to avoid detection by Mr. Jones until such time as they were ready to commence their attack upon him. Bradley went through the garage door for the purpose of surreptitiously retrieving a gun from the kitchen, a gun he used to beat Mr. Jones. Bradley and the McWhites surreptitiously entered and remained in the home at least for the period of time necessary to retrieve a weapon and to surprise Mr. Jones. Unlike the situation where an invited quest commits a violent offense sometime after his consensual entry (e.g. stabs his host after being invited over to watch the Super Bowl), Bradley entered the Jones' home under circumstances designed, and sure, to terrorize, shock, and surprise Mr. Jones.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Even if Delgado did have any impact on Bradley's claim, it is logical to conclude that Delgado does not apply to cases in which one co-defendant grants consent to another co-defendant to enter her home for the sole purpose of assaulting or killing an unaware and unconsenting co-occupant. In Delgado, the court was not called upon to examine the validity of the consent to enter into the premises. Instead, valid consent was assumed. This is not the case here. In looking to the commentary to the Model Penal Code, the Court in Delgado observed that the crime of burglary was created to proscribe the invasion of premises under circumstances especially likely to terrorize occupants. The Court noted that, "[i]n the context of an occupied dwelling, burglary was not intended to cover the situation where an invited guest turns criminal or violent." Delgado at 240. The court expressed concern that such an interpretation would allow conviction for burglary the moment a defendant commits an offense in the presence of an aware host even though he had been licensed or invited to enter. The Court noted that burglary was actually intended to "criminalize the conduct of a suspect who terrorizes, shocks, or surprises the unknowing occupant." Id.

time Bradley murdered Mr. Jones, was indicted, and went to trial, a person was guilty of burglary if he entered or remained in a dwelling with the intent to commit an offense therein. § 810.02(1), Florida Statutes (1995). The "remaining in" portion of the burglary statute could be established by proof that any prior consent to enter was withdrawn. Such proof could be in the form of circumstantial evidence. The law also recognized that consent could be both implicitly and explicitly withdrawn. <u>Raleigh v. State</u>, 705 So.2d 1324 (Fla. 1997)(ruling there was ample circumstantial evidence from which the jury could conclude

Moreover, any "consent" given by Mrs. Jones was invalid and cannot serve to defeat the legal sufficiency of either the first degree murder or burglary conviction. Bradley cannot in good faith argue he reasonably believed Mrs. Jones had any legal or moral authority to consent to the entry of a co-conspirator for the purpose of battering or killing her husband. See Fotopoulos v. State, 608 So.2d 784 (Fla. 1992)(son-in-law of the owner and occupant of burglarized home had no legal and moral authority to consent to entry by his co-conspirator for the purpose of murdering another occupant); K.P.M. v. State, 446 So.2d 723 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984) (son of owner and occupant of the burglarized home had no legal or moral right to consent to friend's entry into family home for purpose of stealing property that did not belong to son); Damico v. State, 153 Fla. 850, 16 So.2d 43 (1943) (corporate officer had no legal or moral right to consent to entry into jewelry store by co-conspirator for purpose of committing theft). See also Gonzales v. State, 931 S.W.2d 574 (Tex.Crim.App. 1996) (consent given by the murder victim's teenage daughter, a co-conspirator in the killing, not valid consent to vitiate burglary conviction. Because the daughter was aware of the defendant's illegal purpose in entering the house, the court found she was unable to give valid consent to the entry); People v. Carr, 97 Cal. Rptr.2d 143 (Cal. 4th App D., 2000) (consent given by son to enter parents' property not valid when consent given for the illegal purpose of cross burning).

that the victim withdrew whatever consent he may have given for Raleigh to remain when Raleigh shot him several times and beat him so viciously that his gun was left bent, broken, and bloody); Jimenez v. State, 703 So.2d 437 (Fla. 1997)(the trier of fact could reasonably have found proof of withdrawal of consent to remain beyond a reasonable doubt when Jimenez beat the victim and stabbed her multiple times); Robertson v. State, 699 So.2d 1343 (Fla. 1997)(this Court determined there was "ample circumstantial evidence from which the jury could conclude that the victim of this brutal strangulationsuffocation murder withdrew whatever consent she may have given Robertson to be in her apartment."); Routly v. State, 440 So.2d 1257 (Fla. 1983) (same); Ray v. State, 522 So.2d 963, 966 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988) ("remaining in" portion of the burglary statute could be proven by showing the commission of a crime following The court reasoned that a victim, upon consensual entry. learning of the crime, implicitly withdraws consent to the perpetrator's remaining in the premises).

As such, at the time Bradley was tried and convicted for the beating death of Jack Jones, the law permitted the jury to conclude that Mr. Jones implicitly withdrew any prior consent, given by his wife, when Bradley began brutally and methodically beating him with a "war stick" and his own gun, duct-taped his

hands and feet and dragged him to another room, and continued the beating while Jones pleaded for Bradley to stop.

Even if this were not enough, Mr. Jones explicitly withdrew any "consent" to entry previously granted by Mr. Jones. The evidence at trial established that while Mrs. Jones apparently left entry doors unlocked in order to allow Bradley and the McWhite brothers to gain surreptitious entry into the home, Mr. Jones, upon seeing the intruders, ordered them out of his home. (TR Vol. XI 1103).

At the time Bradley was tried and convicted, the evidence supported Bradley's conviction for burglary because the jury could have found that Mr. Jones either implicitly withdrew any consent given for the entry once Bradley began beating him, or explicitly withdrew consent when he ordered the intruders out of Trial counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to his home. present an argument contrary to controlling case law in effect at the time of the crime and at the time of trial. Nor can counsel be ineffective for failing to anticipate a change in the law. Darling v. State, 966 So.2d 366, 383 (Fla. 2007)(trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to raise a meritless objection); Suggs. V. State, 923 So.2d 419, 437 (Fla. 2005), citing Cherry v. State, 781 So.2d 1040, 1053 (Fla. 2000).

Bradley's claim should also be denied because Bradley can show no prejudice from trial counsel's failure to challenge the

legal sufficiency of the burglary and felony murder charge. Bradley frames this issue as an ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to preserve an issue for appeal. By admitting that <u>Delgado</u> was not "clearly not the law at the time of Appellant's trial", Bradley concedes that if trial counsel would have filed a pre-trial motion to dismiss or raised the issue of Linda Jones' consent in a motion for a judgment of acquittal, the motions would have been properly denied. (IB 42).

Trial counsel is not ineffective for failing to preserve an issue for appeal at trial if there is not a reasonable probability he would have been successful at trial had he made an objection or filed a motion. This is so because the focus of an ineffective assistance of trial counsel claim is on the fundamental fairness of the trial and not on the appeal to follow.

In <u>Carratelli v. State</u>, 961 So. 2d 312 (Fla. 2007), this Court rejected the notion that <u>Strickland</u>'s prejudice prong focuses on the appeal when the defendant claims his trial counsel failed to properly preserve an objection for appeal. Instead, this Court ruled that a defendant, alleging that counsel was ineffective for failing to object or preserve a

claim of reversible error, must demonstrate prejudice at the trial. Carratelli v. State, 961 So.2d at 323.<sup>18</sup>

In this case, <u>Delgado</u> had not been decided at the time of trial. Instead, years of case law, controlling at the time of trial, permitted the jury to find that any valid consent, previously given, could be withdrawn when the defendant violently attacked the victim in his own home. Moreover, evidence at trial demonstrated that Jack Jones ordered the intruders out of home. They did not comply. Instead, Bradley beat Mr. Jones to death.

Any motion for a JOA or pre-trial motion to dismiss on the grounds that Linda Jones gave consent to enter the Jones' home for the purpose of attacking her husband would have been properly denied. Pursuant to this Court's decision in Carratelli, Bradley's claim should be denied.

#### ISSUE FOUR

# WHETHER CUMULATIVE ERROR DEPRIVED BRADLEY OF A FAIR TRIAL

In this claim, Bradley makes a cumulative error claim. Bradley's claim of cumulative error must fail because Bradley failed to show that trial counsel was ineffective during the guilt phase and penalty phase of Bradley's capital trial. If, after analyzing the individual issues above, the alleged errors

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> <u>Carratelli</u> was decided after the collateral court issued its order denying Bradley's motion for post-conviction relief.

are either meritless, procedurally barred, or do not meet the Strickland standard for ineffective assistance of counsel, there be no cumulative error. Because Bradley's alleged can individual without merit, his errors are contention of cumulative error is similarly without merit. Griffin v. State, 866 So.2d 1, 22 (Fla. 2003) ("Because the alleged individual errors are without merit, the contention of cumulative error is similarly without merit, and [the defendant] is not entitled to relief on this claim.").

#### CONCLUSION

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